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GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS FOR CONTESTING TENTATIVE RULINGS IN DEPT. 12 
 

NOTE PROCEDURE CAREFULLY 
 

The tentative ruling will become the Court’s ruling unless by 4:00 p.m. of the court day preceding the 
hearing, counsel or self-represented parties call the department rendering the decision to request 
argument and to specify the issues to be argued. Calling counsel or self-represented parties requesting 
argument must advise all other affected counsel and self-represented parties by no later than 4:00 p.m. 
of his or her decision to appear and of the issues to be argued. Failure to timely advise the Court and 
counsel or self-represented parties will preclude any party from arguing the matter. (Local Rule 3.43(2).) 
 
Note: In order to minimize the risk of miscommunication, Dept. 12 prefers and encourages fax or email 
notification to the department of the request to argue and specification of issues to be argued – with a 
STRONG PREFERENCE FOR EMAIL NOTIFICATION.  Dept. 12’s Fax Number is: (925) 608-2686.  Dept. 12’s 
email address is: dept12@contracosta.courts.ca.gov.  Warning: this email address is not be used for any 
communication with the department except as expressly and specifically authorized by the court.  Any 
emails received in contravention of this order will be disregarded by the court and may subject the 
offending party to sanctions. 
 
 

Submission of Orders After Hearing in Department 12 Cases 
 
The prevailing party must prepare an order after hearing in accordance with CRC 3.1312. If the tentative 
ruling becomes the Court’s ruling, a copy of the Court’s tentative ruling must be attached to the 
proposed order when submitted to the Court for issuance of the order. 
 

    

1. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  C22-00633 
CASE NAME:  TOM JONG VS.  JOHN MUIR HEALTH 
 *HEARING ON MOTION IN RE:  COMPEL DOCS FROM ALICIA KALAMAS MD IN COMPLIANCE 
W/DEPOSITION SUBPOENA FOR PRCTN OF RECORDS, SNCTNS  
FILED BY: BALAGTAS, JAY MICHAEL S., MD 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Defendants move to compel compliance with a subpoena for production of documents at a 
deposition, served on third party Alicia Kalamas.  The motion is continued to April 20, 2023, with 
instructions to the attorneys in the interim. 
 
None of the briefs filed on this motion – moving brief, opposition, or reply – bothers with any detailed 
explanation to the Court of just what constitutes the discovery at issue here.  There are a good many 
accusations against the opposing lawyers, and rather overblown rhetoric all around.  What there is 
not is any succinct or useful statement, by either side, of what documents are sought and refused, on 
what basis they are sought, on what basis they are refused, and what order exactly the movants are 
asking the Court to enter. 

mailto:dept12@contracosta.courts.ca.gov
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It is never a good thing for the litigants when the Court has read all their briefs, and still has little idea 
of what it is being called on to decide or to order. 
 
Failing any such explanation in the briefs, the Court naturally turned to the other source which is 
specifically mandated on motions to compel, for the precise purpose of elucidating the precise 
discovery at issue – namely the Separate Statement required by CRC 3.1345.  But as it turns out, 
neither side bothered to file a separate statement or response to same. 
 
This motion is accordingly continued to April 20, 2023.  Moving defendants are to file and serve a 
Separate Statement by March 23.  Kalamas is to file and serve her response by April 6.  If the 
document demand(s) in the subpoena(s) consist of a lengthy single paragraph listing a number of 
discrete categories of documents (as appears to be the case), the categories should be broken out 
functionally into separate blocks of the separate statement.  Kalamas’s response should specify which 
of its various objections is asserted to apply to which particular categories of documents sought.  And 
given that at least some production has occurred, it is necessary to the Court’s analysis that the 
parties make clear which categories remain completely or partially in dispute (and if partially, in what 
respects). 
 
Moreover, while the Court stands ready to rule on any disputed points that remain in serious 
contention, the Court suggests that the attorneys may find it appropriate to move past their name-
calling and bickering about what was served when on whom, or who did or didn’t concede any points 
in e-mails.  At this juncture, it is undeniable that all parties and Kalamas have received all the court 
discovery demands, responses, motions, and briefs that they need concerning the subpoenas and 
objections thereto, and have joined issue on the discoverability or objectionability as to some 
requested documents.  How we got to that point isn’t really of much concern to the Court. 
 
The Court further observes that if the attorneys want the Court to give serious attention to the 
voluminous supporting documents filed (apparently running to some five volumes on the opposition 
side), they would do well to provide courtesy copies.  From a very brief perusal, however, it is not 
readily obvious how most of that documentation can be relevant to this discovery motion.  Most of it 
appears to be more like purported trial exhibits on the medical merits of the lawsuit.  Unless those 
are provided simply to prove what documents have been produced already (which should be 
unnecessary), the Court cannot see why this material is relevant or necessary on a discovery motion. 
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2. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  C22-01781 
CASE NAME:  SAPHINA ELLIS VS. GRAVES DEANNA 
 HEARING ON DEMURRER TO:  FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT (CONTINUED FROM 2/9/23)  
FILED BY:  
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Plaintiffs Saphina Ellis, Jason Richardson, and Jah’man Richardson bring this against their alleged 

former landlords, Defendants Deanna Graves (individually and as Trustee of the Deanna Graves Living 

Trust) and Rashida Graves, alleging thirteen causes of action premised on breach of obligations under 

a lease to provide habitable conditions and for retaliation for asserting rights as tenants. 

 

The demurrer is and sustained with leave to amend as to the Eleventh cause of action. It is otherwise 

overruled. Plaintiffs shall have 30 days from the date of this order in which to amend. Defendants 

shall have 30 days from service of the amended complaint, or from expiration of Plaintiffs’ time to 

amend, in which to respond.  

 

Background/Procedural History 

 

On September 1, 2021, plaintiff Saphina Ellis entered into a written monthly lease agreement with 

Defendants for rental of 2231 Florida Avenue in Richmond, CA 94804 (the Property). Plaintiffs allege 

that Defendants were, during all relevant times, the owners and/or managers of the Property. 

Throughout their tenancy, Plaintiffs allege the Property lacked basic characteristics necessary for 

human habitation constituting violations of applicable state, county and City of Richmond housing 

laws, including infestations of vermin, such as rodents and insects, mold and mildew, defective 

plumbing, lack of heat, dangerous, dirty and unkempt flooring, as well as general dilapidation and lack 

of maintenance. Plaintiffs allege that Defendants were aware of each of these issues directly from 

them and also that the defects were severe and longstanding such that Defendants should have 

noticed the defects if they had performed a reasonable inspection. Although Plaintiffs complained 

about the defective conditions to Defendants, none were remedied, as Defendants refused to repair 

them. 

 

Plaintiffs further allege Defendants retaliated against them by engaging in a pattern of harassment 

and intimidation in an attempt to induce Plaintiffs to vacate the Property, including by refusing to 

repair substantial habitability defects, using derogatory terms when referring to and speaking to 

Plaintiffs, engaging in “aggressive” behavior toward Plaintiffs, asking Plaintiffs to move out, making 

false and disparaging statements about Plaintiffs to others, and posting derogatory comments on 

social media. 
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Based on these facts, Plaintiffs assert causes of action for: (1) tortious breach of the implied warranty 

of habitability (Civil Code §§ 1941 et seq.); (2) contractual breach of the implied warranty of 

habitability (Civil Code §§ 1941 et seq.); (3) breach of contract; (4) breach of the covenant of quiet 

enjoyment; (5) private nuisance (Civil Code §§ 3510 et seq.); (6) premises liability (Civil Code § 1714); 

(7) negligence; (8) violation of the City of Richmond Just Cause for Eviction Ordinance (Richmond 

Municipal Code §§ 11.100.050 et seq.); (9) violation of the City of Richmond Rent Control Ordinance 

(Municipal Code §§ 11.100.070 et seq.); (10) violation of the City of Richmond Tenant Anti-

Harassment Ordinance (Municipal Code §§ 11.103.010 et seq.); (11) violation of Civil Code § 1940.2; 

(12) violation of the Unfair Competition Law (Business and Professions Code §§ 17200 et seq.); and 

(13) retaliation (Civil Code § 1942.5). Plaintiffs plead the right to injunctive relief on their claims. 

 

Defendants now demur to the first, second, third, fourth, sixth, eighth, ninth and eleventh causes of 

action on the ground that they fail to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action. Defendants 

also move to strike allegations requesting injunctive relief (Line 3). 

 

The motions were originally calendared for February 9, 2023. It did not appear the motions had been 

served, so the Court’s tentative ruling was to order them off-calendar. On the morning of February 8, 

the Court became aware that late opposition and reply briefs had been filed. It appeared the problem 

was of Defendants’ making for failure to serve, or timely serve, their moving papers. The Court stated 

it would consider the parties’ late-filed briefs and continued the motions to March 9, 2023.  

 

Legal Standards 

 

A demurrer tests the sufficiency of a complaint as a matter of law. (Durell v. Sharp Healthcare (2010) 

183 Cal.App.4th 1350, 1358.) The court accepts as true all material factual allegations and affords 

them a liberal construction, but does not consider conclusions of fact or law, opinions, speculation, or 

allegations contrary to law or judicially noticed facts. (Shea Homes Limited Partnership v. County of 

Alameda (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 1246, 1254.) The complaint must be construed liberally by drawing 

reasonable inferences from the facts pleaded. (Rodas v. Spiegel (2001) 87 Cal.App.4th 513, 517.)  

 

Request for Judicial Notice 

 

Defendants ask the court to take judicial notice of a December 8, 2022 email from Plaintiffs’ counsel 

stating the Plaintiffs moved out of the Property. An email is not a matter that is appropriate for 

judicial notice, so the request is denied. It neither here nor there, however, because in their 

opposition to the motion to strike, Plaintiffs admit they moved out of the Property. 

 

Assertedly Duplicative Claims 

 

The bulk of the demurrer arguments focus on the assertion that various causes of action are 
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duplicative of one another. Plaintiffs may plead alternative theories of recovery based on the same 

underlying facts regarding habitability. (Mendoza v. Continental Sales Co. (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 

1395, 1402 [“the modern practice allows [a] party to plead in the alternative and make inconsistent 

allegations”].) If it is discovered to be duplicative of other causes of action, this can be resolved at a 

later stage. “[I]t is a waste of time and judicial resources to entertain a motion challenging part of a 

pleading on the sole ground of repetitiveness. (See Civ. Code, § 3537 ['Superfluity does not vitiate'].) 

This is the sort of defect that, if it justifies any judicial intervention at all, is ordinarily dealt with most 

economically at trial, or on a dispositive motion such as summary judgment.” (Blickman Turkus, LP v. 

MFDowntown Sunnyvale, LLC (2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 858, 890 [emphasis added].)  

 

The Court follows the approach in Blickman and overrules the demurrer to the first, second, sixth, 

seventh, eighth causes of action on the ground that these claims may duplicate of other claims in the 

FAC.  

 

Remaining Challenges to the Sufficiency of the FAC 

 

The remaining arguments of the Defendants are directed to the first, eighth, ninth and eleventh 

causes of action.  

 

(1) First Cause of Action for Breach of the Implied Warranty of Habitability 

 

Plaintiffs allege they entered into a written lease for the Property. (FAC ¶ 9 and Exh. A.) “[E]very lease 

includes a covenant of quiet possession and enjoyment.” (Erlach v. Sierra Asset Servicing, LLC (2014) 

226 Cal.App.4th 1281, 1299 (citing Civil Code § 1927).)  

 

Defendants argue the implied warranty of habitability is a defense to an unlawful detainer, but not an 

affirmative cause of action. (MPA, p. 3, sec. 1(a)-(b).) They are half right; it is a defense to an unlawful 

detainer action for non-payment of rent. (Green v. Superior Court (1974) 10 Cal. 3d 616, 637.) 

However, the cases also recognize an affirmative claim: “The elements of such an affirmative claim 

are the existence of a material defective condition affecting the premises’ habitability, notice to the 

landlord of the condition within a reasonable time after the tenant's discovery of the condition, the 

landlord was given a reasonable time to correct the deficiency, and resulting damages.” (Erlach, 226 

Cal.App.4th at 1297.)  

 

In their supplemental reply brief, Defendants concede that Green and Stoiber v. Honeychuck (1980) 

101 Cal.App.3d 903, “hold that a plaintiff may sue for breach of the implied warranty of 

habitability….” The demurrer based on the argument that the law does not provide for an affirmative 

cause of action for breach of the implied warranty of habitability is overruled. 
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(2) Eighth Cause of Action for Violation of the City of Richmond 

Just Cause for Eviction Ordinance 

 

Richmond Municipal Code (RMC) § 11.100.050(a) states: 

 

No landlord shall take action to terminate any tenancy, including but not limited to 

making a demand for possession of a rental unit, threatening to terminate a 

tenancy verbally or in writing, serving any notice to quit or other eviction notice, or 

bringing any action to recover possession or be granted recovery of possession of a 

rental unit unless one of the enumerated good case bases for eviction exists.  

 

RMC § 11.100.050(g) states: 

 

Failure to comply with any requirement of this Chapter may be asserted as an 

affirmative defense in an action brought by the Landlord to recover possession of 

the unit. Additionally, any attempt to recover possession of a unit in violation of 

this Chapter shall render the landlord liable to the tenant for actual damages, 

including damages for emotional distress, in a civil action for wrongful eviction. The 

tenant or the Rent Board may seek injunctive relief and money damages for 

wrongful eviction. A Tenant prevailing in an action for wrongful eviction shall 

recover costs and reasonable attorney's fees. 

 

The FAC does not allege that plaintiffs have been evicted, either formally or constructively. In their 

opposition brief they belatedly assert, in substance, that they were constructively evicted. 

 

The Ordinance, however, covers more than actual, successful eviction. It also forbids wrongful steps 

by which a landlord might “take action to terminate any tenancy”, including demands, threats, 

eviction notices, and so on. That the Ordinance can be violated without accomplishing an actual 

eviction is proved by subdivision (g), which expressly allows violations to be asserted as defenses to 

UD actions. That would be pointless if there could be no violation short of actual eviction. 

 

In the FAC, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants violated the Just Cause for Eviction Ordinance by 

wrongfully endeavoring to recover possession of their unit, failing to make repairs, asking them to 

move, and not advising them of their right to contact the rent board. (FAC, ¶¶ 75-76; see also FAC 

¶¶ 16-17.) Reading the complaint as a whole, Plaintiffs have adequately alleged a violation of the Just 

Cause for Eviction Ordinance by alleging that Defendant’s actions in attempting to recover the 

premises were without just cause. The demurrer to the eighth cause of action is overruled. 

 

(3)  Ninth Cause of Action for Violation of the Richmond Rent Control Ordinance 
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In their ninth cause of action, Plaintiffs allege that the Property was subject to the rent control 

provisions of the Richmond Fair Rent Just Cause for Eviction and Homeowner Protection Ordinance 

(“Ordinance”) and Defendants violated the Ordinance by raising their rent in excess of what the 

Ordinance allows. (FAC, ¶¶ 80-83.) 

 

Defendants argue the Property is exempt from the rent control provisions of the Ordinance because 

Plaintiffs held a Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher and rent for the Property did not exceed the 

Payment Standard published by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. (City of 

Richmond Rent Board Regs., 202.A.) Defendants point the page one of the lease attached to the FAC 

which includes a handwritten reference to “Section 8 Tenant Based Assistance”, and to its paragraph 

38 which states the tenant’s “portion” of the rent is payable on the first of the month.  

 

The demurrer based on these arguments is overruled. The Court does not take judicial notice of the 

truth of the statements in the lease. Further, even if the Court took judicial notice of the fact that 

Plaintiffs were Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher recipients at the inception of the lease, there is 

nothing to establish that the stated rent met the HUD payment standard. Also, Plaintiffs allege 

Defendants increased the rent by some unspecified amount during the tenancy. (FAC ¶ 83.) Thus, 

there is nothing on the face of the FAC or any potentially judicially noticeable matter that would 

permit the Court to compare Plaintiffs’ rent to the HUD payment standard.  

 

Defendants have not shown that Plaintiffs fall within an exemption to the Ordinance such that the 

night cause of action fails. Accordingly, the demurrer is overruled.  

 

(4) Eleventh Cause of Action for Violation of Civil Code § 1940.2 

 

Civil Code § 1940.2(a)(3) prohibits the “use, or threaten to use, force, willful threats, or menacing 

conduct constituting a course of conduct that interferes with the tenant’s quiet enjoyment of the 

premises in violation of Section 1927 [the right to quiet enjoyment] that would create an 

apprehension of harm in a reasonable person” and for the purpose of influencing a tenant to vacate a 

dwelling.  

 

Defendants argue the conduct alleged in the FAC does not adequately allege the “force, willful 

threats, or menacing conduct constituting a course of conduct” required to state a claim. The Court 

agrees. The FAC alleges Defendants engaged in unspecified aggressive behavior, asked Plaintiffs to 

move out, made false and disparaging statements about Plaintiffs to others and posted derogatory 

comments about Plaintiffs on social media. (FAC, ¶ 94.) Plaintiffs allege they experienced the 

“apprehension of harm” resulting from this conduct which interfered with their quiet enjoyment of 

the property and was for the purpose of influencing them to vacate. (FAC, ¶¶ 93, 95.) But simply 

asking them to move out, or disparaging them in person or on social media, does not qualify as 

“force, willful threats, or menacing conduct”. “Aggressive behavior” might so qualify, depending on 
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what exactly that is said to be; but the allegation is too vague and conclusory to state a viable claim, 

or to give Defendants notice of what they are accused of. 

 

The demurrer to the Eleventh Cause of Action is sustained with leave to amend. 

 
 

  
    

3. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  C22-01781 
CASE NAME:  SAPHINA ELLIS VS. GRAVES DEANNA 
 *HEARING ON MOTION IN RE:  STRIKE (CONTINUED FROM 2/9/23)  
FILED BY:  
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
See Line 3 for a fuller discussion of the background and allegations in this case. Defendants’ motion to 

strike is granted without leave to amend. 

Defendants move to strike the entirety of the FAC’s paragraph 103 in which Plaintiffs request “an 

order requiring Defendants to repair all defective conditions at the Subject Premises.” They also move 

to strike paragraph K of the Prayer which seeks “a temporary restraining order, preliminary injunction 

and permanent injunction, all enjoining Defendants and each of them, to repair and remedy defective 

conditions at the Subject Premises; and to cease and desist from retaliating against Plaintiffs for 

exercising their rights as tenants.”  

The court may, upon a motion or at any time in its discretion and upon terms it deems proper: (1) 

strike out any irrelevant, false, or improper matter inserted in any pleading; or (2) strike out all or any 

part of any pleading not drawn or filed in conformity with the laws of California, a court rule, or court 

order. (Code of Civil Procedure § 436 (a)-(b); Stafford v. Shultz (1954) 42 Cal.2d 767, 782.) 

 

Defendants argue need for injunctive relief is moot because Plaintiffs have vacated the Property. 

Plaintiffs admit they have vacated the Property. (Opp., 5: 17-18.) Plaintiffs counter that they will be 

entitled to retake possession once the Property is made habitable, and further that Defendants can 

be ordered to keep the Property unrented and make it habitable so that Plaintiffs can move back in. 

In the first place, this is not supported by the FAC’s factual allegations, which do not allege that 

plaintiffs have any intention of moving back into these premises, or ever wanting to deal again with 

these landlords. The FAC reads as though plaintiffs are still resident in the premises; it is only in their 

opposition brief that they acknowledge having vacated them. 

If that were the only problem with the challenged portions of the FAC, it would call for granting the 

motion but allowing leave to amend. More fundamental, however, is that there is no legal basis for 

plaintiff’s belated fix-and-move-back remedy even if any such intention were factually pleaded. 

Plaintiffs identify no such legal authority, and the Court has found none. The concept seems 
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practically dubious in any event; for example, what if the landlord (with or without repairs) has rented 

the premises to someone else in the meantime? Do plaintiffs contend that they could then force the 

landlord to evict innocent subsequent tenants for plaintiffs’ benefit? Or are they arguing that even 

having vacated, they have standing to require the landlord to clean up the defects for the benefit of 

later tenants? 

If plaintiffs seek to contest this tentative to seek leave to amend, they should come to the hearing not 

only prepared to amend their factual allegations, but also armed with legal authority supporting the 

remedy they now belatedly claim to seek. 
 

  
    

4. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  C22-02342 
CASE NAME:  JULIO CRUZ VS. CAMBRIDGE REAL ESTATE SERVICES, INC. 
 *HEARING ON MOTION IN RE:  TO COMPEL ARBITRATION  
FILED BY: CAMBRIDGE REAL ESTATE SERVICES, INC. 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 

Defendant Cambridge Real Estate Services, Inc. moves for an order (1) compelling arbitration 
of plaintiff’s individual claims, and (2) dismissing his representative claims under California’s Private 
Attorneys General Act (PAGA) or, alternatively, staying all further proceedings. The motion is granted 
in part. Parties are ordered to submit plaintiff’s individual PAGA claims to arbitration and this 
proceeding is otherwise stayed, pending the outcome of arbitration. (Code of Civil Procedure 
§ 1281.4.)  

The Court notes that this is a PAGA-only action. The same plaintiff filed a parallel class action 
in this Court asserting substantively similar claims. That case was removed to federal court. 
Defendant filed a parallel motion in the federal case to compel arbitration, which has apparently been 
taken under submission without ruling to date. 

Background 

Plaintiff Julio Andres Cruz was hired by defendant, an Oregon company, as a maintenance 
technician on January 23, 2019. Upon being hired, he signed a stand-alone two-page arbitration 
agreement which is labeled as such in bold uppercase letters. It states that “[b]y accepting 
employment with Cambridge Real Estate Services,” plaintiff agreed to submit all claims arising out of 
his employment to binding arbitration. The agreement contains bolded text stating, “By agreeing to 
submit your employment-related claims as set forth above to binding arbitration, you are waiving 
your right to have your claims presented to a judge or a jury in both federal and state civil court.” (See 
Declaration of Angela Cooper in Support of Motion to Compel Arbitration, hereinafter “Cooper Decl.,” 
Ex. 1.) This waiver language is repeated just above the signature line.  

The agreement mutually binds both the employer and employee to the arbitration process 
and requires service of a notice of intent to arbitrate prior to the expiration of any statute of 
limitations. (Cooper Decl., Ex. 1, ¶¶3, 6.) The process for selecting an arbitrator is detailed and 
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neutral. (Id. at ¶4.) The arbitration is governed by the AAA rules and allows the arbitrator to decide 
timeliness and arbitrability issues. (Id. at ¶5.) While an employee seeking arbitration could be 
required to pay $150 upon filing and $50 per day in costs, the total amount of costs the employee can 
be required to pay is capped at $500, and any amount exceeding this would be covered by the 
employer. The agreement contains provisions for a reduction of costs in the event an employee 
would qualify for a fee waiver in court. (Id. at ¶7.) 

Discussion 

Plaintiff does not contest that he signed an arbitration agreement with defendant. Defendant 
has therefore met its burden to show there is an arbitration agreement at issue. (Condee v. Longwood 
Management Corp. (2001) 88 Cal.App.4th 215, 218-19.) 

Instead, plaintiff argues the agreement is unconscionable and should not be enforced. He 
concedes that, following the Supreme Court’s holding in Viking River Cruises v. Moriana (2022) 142 
S.Ct. 1906, he would be required to arbitrate his individual PAGA claims if the arbitration agreement 
is not found to be unconscionable. (Opposition, 9:15-20.)  

Accordingly, we turn to the question of whether the arbitration agreement is unconscionable 
pursuant to the standards articulated in Armendariz v. Foundation Health Psychcare Services, Inc. 
(2000) 24 Cal.4th 83. To briefly recapitulate the principles of unconscionability, the doctrine has both 
a procedural and a substantive element, the former focusing on oppression or surprise due to 
unequal bargaining power, the latter on overly harsh or one-sided results. Procedural and substantive 
unconscionability “‘must both be present in order for a court to exercise its discretion to refuse to 
enforce a contract or clause under the doctrine of unconscionability.’ [Citation.] But they need not be 
present in the same degree. … [T]he more substantively oppressive the contract term, the less 
evidence of procedural unconscionability is required to come to the conclusion that the term is 
unenforceable, and vice versa.” (Id. at 114.) 

Procedural Unconscionability 

Plaintiff argues the arbitration agreement was procedurally unconscionable, citing his lack of 
choice in the matter and the employer’s leverage. The procedural element of an unconscionable 
contract generally takes the form of a contract of adhesion, which, imposed and drafted by the party 
of superior bargaining strength, relegates to the subscribing party only the opportunity to adhere to 
the contract or reject it. (Little v. Auto Stiegler, Inc. (2003) 29 Cal.4th 1064, 1071, citing Armendariz, 
24 Cal.4th at 113-14.) 

Arbitration contracts imposed as a condition of employment are typically adhesive. (OTO, 
L.L.C. v. Kho (2019) 8 Cal.5th 111, 126-27.) This case is no exception. However, plaintiff submits no 
declaration and we have no information concerning the circumstances surrounding his signing the 
agreement. From defendants’ evidence it appears that plaintiff signed the agreement on the date he 
was hired as a precondition to employment. Aside from this fact, no additional surprise or oppression 
have been established.  

Because an adhesive arbitration clause may still be legally enforceable (County of Solano v. 
Lionsgate Corp. (2005) 126 Cal.App.4th 741, 750), we look to substantive unconscionability as this too 
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must be present to deny enforcement.  

Substantive Unconscionability 

Substantive unconscionability focuses on the actual terms of the agreement and evaluates 
whether they create overly harsh or one-sided results. (Armendariz, 24 Cal.4th at 114.) A contract 
term is not substantively unconscionable when it merely gives one side a greater benefit. (Pinnacle 
Museum Tower Assn. v. Pinnacle Market Development (US), LLC (2012) 55 Cal.4th 223, 246.) “Not all 
one-sided contract provisions are unconscionable; hence the various intensifiers in our formulations: 
‘overly harsh,’ ‘unduly oppressive,’ ‘unreasonably favorable.’” (Sanchez v. Valencia Holding Co., LLC 
(2015) 61 Cal.4th 899, 911, citing Pinnacle Museum Tower Assn., 55 Cal.4th at 246, emphasis in 
original.) To be substantively unconscionable, the agreement must be something more than a mere 
“bad bargain.” (Ibid.)  

Plaintiff argues the agreement is substantively unconscionable because: (1) it allows the 
employer a sneak peek at plaintiff’s case by way of the pre-arbitration notice, (2) the cost-sharing 
provision imposes excessive fees on the plaintiff, (3) there are insufficient provisions for discovery, 
and (4) the unconscionable provisions are not severable. 

The pre-arbitration notice, as defendant points out in its reply, is not a one-sided “free peek” 
as described in Nyulassy v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2004) 120 Cal.App.4th 1267, 1283. Both sides are 
equally affected by the requirement here. Further, the notice is no more of a burden than is required 
in any PAGA case. Exhibit A to plaintiff’s complaint indicates a PAGA notice was provided here. 

The cost-sharing provision also does not render the agreement unconscionable. While $500 is 
technically $65 more than would be required to file a typical civil action in the superior court, the 
difference is de minimis. Further, this particular case was filed as “complex”, which requires an initial 
filing fee of $1,000. Thus, the cost of arbitration would be substantially less. 

The agreement, as it pertains to the parties’ rights to discovery, is not unconscionable. While 
the arbitrator is given discretion to determine the scope of it, there are no limits described in the 
agreement.  

To the extent any of the terms could be seen as unconscionable, the Court is not convinced 
that the terms are incapable of being severed from the agreement, which contains no such 
prohibition.  

The parties’ agreement to arbitrate here is not unconscionable. Because a court must order 
arbitration if it determines that a valid agreement to arbitrate exists, parties must submit plaintiff’s 
individual claims to arbitration.  

Representative Claims 

A different result must apply, however, to plaintiff’s PAGA claims seeking civil penalties for 
violations suffered by defendant’s employees other than plaintiff himself. Defendant’s motion to 
dismiss those claims is denied. However, litigation of those claims is stayed pending the outcome of 
arbitration of plaintiff’s individual PAGA claims (and, it may turn out, adjudication of his class action 
claims, either in federal court or in arbitration). 
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This topic has been the subject of substantial disarray since the United States Supreme 
Court’s decision in Viking River Cruises, Inc. v. Moriana (2022) 142 S.Ct. 1906. Meaning no disrespect, 
that disarray followed largely from the Supreme Court’s incorrect guess as to the content of California 
law, in particular as to whether an individual employee – required by the Federal Arbitration Act to 
arbitrate any claims he or she personally may have under PAGA – nevertheless may split off and 
litigate representative claims brought under PAGA on account of violations allegedly suffered by other 
employees. 

That disarray has now been definitively resolved by a binding precedent of a California Court 
of Appeal. In Galarsa v. Dolgen California, LLC (2023) __ Cal.App.5th __ (2023 Cal.App.LEXIS 129), the 
Court held: 

First, we conclude Viking River and the Federal Arbitration Act (FAA; 9 U.S.C. § 1 et 
seq.) do not invalidate the rule of California law that a provision in an arbitration 
agreement purporting to waive an employee's right to pursue representative actions 
is not enforceable as to representative claims pursued under PAGA. Second, the 
severability clause in the arbitration agreement allows the unenforceable waiver 
provision to be stricken from the arbitration agreement. Third, we interpret the 
surviving provisions of the agreement to require arbitration of the PAGA claims that 
seek to recover civil penalties for Labor Code violations suffered by plaintiff. 
Consequently, those claims must be sent to arbitration in accordance with the 
principles established by Viking River and the FAA. 

We further conclude the PAGA claims seeking to recover civil penalties for Labor 
Code violations suffered by employees other than plaintiff may be pursued by plaintiff 
in court. Thus, we disagree with the United States Supreme Court's conclusion that 
California law requires the dismissal of those claims. More specifically, we conclude 
plaintiff is an aggrieved employee with PAGA standing and the general rule against 
splitting a cause of action does not apply to the two types of PAGA claims. 

Id. at *1-*2 (emphasis in original). 

Accordingly, under Viking River and Galarsa, to the extent that a PAGA plaintiff (suing as a 
representative of the state) seeks penalties not based on his individual claims but on account of 
violations suffered by other employees, (1) those claims cannot be compelled into arbitration; (2) the 
plaintiff may pursue them in a representative action in court. 

However, in the Court’s judgment, plaintiff’s litigation of representative PAGA claims should 
be stayed pending the result of the arbitration of his individual claims. The existence, non-existence, 
and extent of any Labor Code violations by defendant will likely be resolved in that setting. Indeed, 
although plaintiff’s brief argues vigorously against both enforcement of the arbitration agreement 
and dismissal of his non-arbitrable PAGA claims, he makes no objection or argument against a stay 
pending arbitration. 

 

  

https://advance.lexis.com/search/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=a987a447-5078-41d7-853a-fdda93d89973&pdsearchterms=2023+cal+app+lexis+129&pdtypeofsearch=searchboxclick&pdsearchtype=SearchBox&pdstartin=&pdpsf=&pdqttype=and&pdquerytemplateid=&ecomp=3z6vkkk&earg=pdsf&prid=6916e8ec-08eb-49ce-a39a-5e204791f0fe
https://advance.lexis.com/search/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=a987a447-5078-41d7-853a-fdda93d89973&pdsearchterms=2023+cal+app+lexis+129&pdtypeofsearch=searchboxclick&pdsearchtype=SearchBox&pdstartin=&pdpsf=&pdqttype=and&pdquerytemplateid=&ecomp=3z6vkkk&earg=pdsf&prid=6916e8ec-08eb-49ce-a39a-5e204791f0fe
https://advance.lexis.com/search/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=a987a447-5078-41d7-853a-fdda93d89973&pdsearchterms=2023+cal+app+lexis+129&pdtypeofsearch=searchboxclick&pdsearchtype=SearchBox&pdstartin=&pdpsf=&pdqttype=and&pdquerytemplateid=&ecomp=3z6vkkk&earg=pdsf&prid=6916e8ec-08eb-49ce-a39a-5e204791f0fe
https://advance.lexis.com/search/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=a987a447-5078-41d7-853a-fdda93d89973&pdsearchterms=2023+cal+app+lexis+129&pdtypeofsearch=searchboxclick&pdsearchtype=SearchBox&pdstartin=&pdpsf=&pdqttype=and&pdquerytemplateid=&ecomp=3z6vkkk&earg=pdsf&prid=6916e8ec-08eb-49ce-a39a-5e204791f0fe
https://advance.lexis.com/search/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=a987a447-5078-41d7-853a-fdda93d89973&pdsearchterms=2023+cal+app+lexis+129&pdtypeofsearch=searchboxclick&pdsearchtype=SearchBox&pdstartin=&pdpsf=&pdqttype=and&pdquerytemplateid=&ecomp=3z6vkkk&earg=pdsf&prid=6916e8ec-08eb-49ce-a39a-5e204791f0fe
https://advance.lexis.com/search/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=a987a447-5078-41d7-853a-fdda93d89973&pdsearchterms=2023+cal+app+lexis+129&pdtypeofsearch=searchboxclick&pdsearchtype=SearchBox&pdstartin=&pdpsf=&pdqttype=and&pdquerytemplateid=&ecomp=3z6vkkk&earg=pdsf&prid=6916e8ec-08eb-49ce-a39a-5e204791f0fe
https://advance.lexis.com/search/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=a987a447-5078-41d7-853a-fdda93d89973&pdsearchterms=2023+cal+app+lexis+129&pdtypeofsearch=searchboxclick&pdsearchtype=SearchBox&pdstartin=&pdpsf=&pdqttype=and&pdquerytemplateid=&ecomp=3z6vkkk&earg=pdsf&prid=6916e8ec-08eb-49ce-a39a-5e204791f0fe
https://advance.lexis.com/search/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=a987a447-5078-41d7-853a-fdda93d89973&pdsearchterms=2023+cal+app+lexis+129&pdtypeofsearch=searchboxclick&pdsearchtype=SearchBox&pdstartin=&pdpsf=&pdqttype=and&pdquerytemplateid=&ecomp=3z6vkkk&earg=pdsf&prid=6916e8ec-08eb-49ce-a39a-5e204791f0fe
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5. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  L23-00003 
CASE NAME:  SAMUEL ESCORCIA VS.  CONTRA COSTA COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF CONSERVATION 
AND DEVELOPMENT 
 HEARING IN RE:  APPEAL OF ADMINISTRATIVE FINE OR PENALTY  
FILED BY:  
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Appellants have filed an appeal from a compliance order, and conditional fine, assessed in 
administrative proceedings by the County Department of Conservation and Development.  The appeal 
is denied. 
 
In the first place, there is nothing in this filing indicating that appellants served these papers on the 
Department or gave any notice of this appeal.  Even if appellants’ case appeared otherwise 
meritorious, therefore, the Court could do nothing without giving the other side their say in court.  
The appeal need not be put over for service, however, because it is plainly unmeritorious in any 
event. 
 
The papers filed do not explain what was at issue in the administrative proceedings, but apparently it 
was determined that appellants had placed an additional dwelling unit (ADU) on their property 
without going through the required permitting process.  At a hearing they were given an additional 90 
days in which to remove the violation.  By their own admission they have not done so.  The most 
recent notice, from which the appeal is taken, gives them until April 5 in which to remove the 
violation.  If it is not done, the fine will be $14,300, payable within 30 days after April 5. 
 
Appellants do not present any record of what happened in the administrative proceedings, including 
the final statement of decision in which the County presumably specified what the ADU-permitting 
violation is, why the ADU is illegal, and on what evidence the finding of violation rests.  Neither do 
appellants suggest or document that they presented any evidence to rebut or defend against the 
violation. 
 
On the present appeal, appellants assert no ground on which the statement of decision is said to be 
incorrect.  Their only stated ground for the appeal is that they cannot afford the fine and do not want 
to remove the ADU while they “continue the permit process”.  They also present no evidence of their 
inability to pay the fine, nor of what it would cost to remove the ADU. 
 
The Court understands the concern here, but it is powerless to act.  This Court is not the County 
Department of Conservation and Development, Part B.  The Court is not in a position to intervene in 
or interfere with that Department’s orders, unless it is shown that those orders are legally erroneous.  
There is nothing in this appeal record that would suggest any error or deficiency in the County’s 
administrative proceedings or statement of decision, and hence no grounds for this Court to overturn 
them.  If appellants can persuade the Department to let them continue to seek a permit, and leave 
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the ADU in place meantime, good for them.  But that is nothing this Court can order, in the face of a 
properly issued and perfectly legal administrative order to the contrary. 
 

 

  
    

6. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC18-00603 
CASE NAME:  WANG VS. BRANAGH DEVELOPMENT 
 *HEARING ON MOTION IN RE:  GFS  
FILED BY: ANDERSON, DALE G. 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Defendant Dale Anderson moves for a determination that the settlement he has reached with 
plaintiffs is a good-faith settlement pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 877.6.  No opposition or 
objection has been filed, and the motion is accordingly granted. 
 

 

  
    

7. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC20-00322 
CASE NAME:  FORD  VS.  CHEVRON 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR ORDER APPLYING TEXAS TORT LAW  
FILED BY:  CHEVRON U.S.A. INC. 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Defendants’ motion to apply Texas law is granted. 

Deposition Testimony.  Neither side highlighted the deposition testimony submitted for the Court’s 

consideration.  (See CRC 3.1116(c).)  Further, plaintiffs submitted an entire deposition transcript, 

rather than “only the relevant pages …”  (Id., subd. (b).  See plaintiffs’ Exh. 10.)  The parties are 

directed to comply with rule 3.1116 of the California Rules of Court in future law and motion 

proceedings. 

Plaintiffs’ Evidence.  The bulk of plaintiffs’ opposition evidence is of little value to the Court in 

deciding this motion.  For example, plaintiffs’ counsel attaches “Material safety data sheet[s]” and a 

related piece of correspondence as Exhibits 1-7 and 24, with no explanation of the nature or 

significance of these documents.  Equally unhelpful are the “Union Oil Technical Memo[s]” attached 

as Exhibits 11-20.  These exhibits are referenced in conclusory terms only in footnotes to the 

opposition memorandum.  (Opposition, p. 3, fns. 1 and 3.) 

The Three-Step Analysis.  Both sides agree that the Court must apply the three-step analysis 

articulated in the California Supreme Court’s Chen decision.  (See Chen v. Los Angeles Truck Centers, 

LLC (2019) 7 Cal.5th 862, 867-68.) 

Step One: Differences In Law.  The Court must first determine whether there are material differences 
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between California law and Texas law.  Looking at the argued points overall, the Court agrees with 

defendants that there are material differences. 

Plaintiffs’ Argument.  Plaintiffs argue that, as to all legal issues identified by defendants, 

California law and Texas law are substantially the same.  While the Court will consider this 

argument, the Court also notes that plaintiffs do not appear to acknowledge its paradoxical 

nature.  If California law and Texas law are the same, then (1) why are plaintiffs bothering to 

oppose this motion, and (2) how would California’s interests be harmed by the application of 

Texas law?  Plaintiffs’ opposition makes sense only if there are in fact substantial differences 

between California law and Texas law. 

Legal Issue No. 1.  The first legal issue identified by defendants is the risk-benefit test in design 

defect cases.  The Court agrees with defendants’ argument that the Texas test is more stringent 

than the California test.  In particular, Texas law places the burden of proof on plaintiffs while 

California law places the burden of proof on defendants.  (See legal authorities cited at 

defendants’ opening memorandum at p. 5, lines 12-26.)  The Court does not understand plaintiffs’ 

opposition argument that “[w]hether the burden of a safer alternative product is on the 

defendant or plaintiff is not a material difference at trial …”  (Opposition, p. 7, lines 25-27.)  In the 

Court’s experience, which party has the burden of proof can be a crucial factor in determining 

which party prevails.  In any event, it is a critical point on which a jury would have to be 

instructed. 

Legal Issue No. 2.  The second legal issue identified by defendants is the consumer expectation 

test in design defect cases.  California recognizes a stand-alone claim that a product is defective if 

it fails to meet consumer expectations, while Texas does not.  (See legal authorities cited in 

defendants’ opening memorandum at p. 6, lines 1-8.)  Plaintiffs acknowledge this in the 

opposition memorandum.  (Opposition, p. 7, line 15 [“Texas does not have a ‘stand-alone’ 

consumer expectation test”].)  The Court finds that this is a material difference in governing law. 

Legal Issue No. 3.  The third legal issue identified by defendants is the raw materials defense in 

design defect cases.  Defendants argue that “California has rejected the Restatement rule on raw 

materials”.  But in the only California decision cited by defendants, the court cited the 

Restatement with approval.  (Opening Memorandum, p. 6, lines 15-19.  See Webb v. Special 

Electric Co., Inc. (2016) 63 Cal.4th 167, 183-85.)  Like California law, Texas law acknowledges that 

the raw materials defense may not apply when a product is “inherently dangerous,” although in 

the case cited by defendants the court noted that not all asbestos products meet that description.  

(Cimino v. Raymark Indus. (5th Cir. 1998) 151 F.3d 297, 331.)  The state of this point of law in the 

two jurisdictions is not entirely clear.  The two states’ laws may come out to much the same 

content, but there may be some lingering difference. 

Legal Issue No. 4.  The fourth legal issue identified by defendants is the test for causation.  

The Court agrees with defendants’ argument that the Texas test for causation is more stringent 
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that the California test.  In particular, Texas law requires a plaintiff to produce defendant-specific 

evidence concerning the approximate dose of the plaintiff’s exposure, and in cases involving 

exposure from multiple sources, the plaintiff must also introduce evidence of the ratio of the 

exposure caused by a given defendant to the total exposure.  (See legal authorities cited at 

defendants’ opening memorandum at pp. 6: 21–7:8.)  Plaintiffs acknowledge this in the 

opposition memorandum.  (Opposition, p. 9, lines 18-19 [“Texas has an additional procedural 

dose quantification requirement that is not required in California”].)  The Court finds that this is 

a material difference in governing law. 

Legal Issue No. 5.  The fifth legal issue identified by defendants is the “inherently unsafe” 

defense.  The Court agrees with plaintiffs’ argument that the governing California statute is 

substantially the same as the governing Texas statute.  (See statutes quoted in Opposition at 

pp. 10:12–11:5.)  The Court is not persuaded that the dicta in the single footnote cited in 

defendants’ opening memorandum suggests a substantial difference in governing law.  

(See Johnson v. United States Steel Corp. (2015) 240 Cal.App.4th 22, 38, fn. 8 [“U.S. Steel does not 

invoke that doctrine here”].)  Indeed, if the Court understands defendants’ position correctly, 

defendants withdrew their argument as to this legal issue in the reply memorandum.  (Reply, p. 4, 

fn. 1.) 

Legal Issue No. 6.  The sixth legal issue identified by defendants concerns punitive damages.  

Texas law places strict limits on the award of punitive damages that California does not, including 

in particular: (1) the requirement of a unanimous jury verdict, and; (2) dollar caps on the amount 

of punitive damages.  (See legal authorities cited in defendants’ opening memorandum at p. 7:17-

22.)  Plaintiffs acknowledge this in the opposition memorandum.  (Opposition, p. 11, line 16 

[“California has no statutory caps, whereas Texas does”].)  The Court finds that this is a material 

difference in governing law. 

In short:  While defendants have asserted more points of difference than clearly exist, overall they 

have satisfied their burden of showing that there are several important points of products-liability 

tort law on which the substance of the two states’ tort laws are materially different.  (And even where 

those laws may be similar, the same paradox noted above applies:  If they’re different, Texas law 

should govern; and if they’re the same, what does it matter which law we say we’re applying?) 

Step Two: Identifying State Interests.  The second step of the analysis is to identify each state’s 

interest in applying its own law, and to determine whether there is a “true conflict” in those interests. 

Texas’s Interests.  It is undisputed that plaintiff J.D. Ford lived and worked in Texas at all material 

times.  The Court concurs with defendants’ argument that Texas has an interest in “attracting out-

of-state companies to do business within the state …”  (McCann v. Foster Wheeler LLC (2010) 

48 Cal.4th 68, 91-92.)  Plaintiffs concede this point in their opposition memorandum.  

(Opposition, p. 12, lines 25-26 [“Plaintiffs acknowledge that Texas has some interest in the 

application of its law to their claims”].) 
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California’s Interests.  Plaintiffs make the following argument: “California has a greater interest 

based on Mr. Ford’s exposures to benzene-containing products [1] formulated, [2] designed, 

[3] manufactured and [4] tested by Defendants in California.  [Bracketed numbers added.]”  

(Opposition, pp. 12:27–13:2.)  The problem with this argument is that it is not supported by the 

citation to and a meaningful discussion of supporting evidence.  At best, plaintiffs have produced 

evidence that some benzene products were tested in California, but plaintiffs have not alleged 

that their injuries were the result of defective testing. 

Plaintiffs also argue that California has an interest in regulating the actions of its corporate 

citizens.  But the decision plaintiffs cite for this proposition actually held that “this public interest 

factor is insufficient to tip the balance in favor of California as a forum,” and that Texas courts 

should hear a case of benzene exposure involving Texas residents.  (Morris v. AGFA Corp. (2006) 

144 Cal.App.4th 1452, 1467.) 

Defendants argue that California’s interest is merely abstract and theoretical.  Governing case law 

supports this argument: 

Plaintiffs in this case are not California residents and were not injured in California.  

California has a theoretical interest in the application of its strict products liability rules 

because Buswest, a California defendant, placed an allegedly defective product into the 

stream of commerce, importing it and selling it to a California tour operator.  The policy 

behind imposing strict products liability “‘is to insure that the costs of injuries resulting from 

defective products are borne by the manufacturers that put such products on the market 

rather than by the injured persons who are powerless to protect themselves.’” (Barrett v. 

Superior Court (1990) 222 Cal.App.3d 1176, 1186 [272 Cal. Rptr. 304].)  But the underlying 

basis for the policy is the protection of California residents and other persons within its 

territorial jurisdiction from injury.  California's interest in imposing that policy becomes 

hypothetical when the injured persons are not California residents and were not injured in 

California.  [Emphasis added.] 

(Chen v. Los Angeles Truck Centers, LLC (2019) 42 Cal.App.5th 488, 498.  Cf. Hansen v. Owens-

Corning Fiberglas Corp. (1996) 51 Cal.App.4th 753, 760 [California courts “have little or no 

interest in litigation involving injuries incurred outside of California by nonresidents”].) 

Conclusion.  At the second step of the three-step analysis, the Court is required to determine 

whether there is a “true conflict” between California law and a foreign state’s law.  In the case at 

bar, the Court finds that there is not a true conflict between California law and Texas law; Texas 

has a substantial interest in promoting a business environment that is friendly to investment and 

employment, while California’s interest is merely theoretical.  (See Chen, 42 Cal.App.5th at 498 

[“we conclude there is no true conflict in this case”]; Hernandez v. Burger (1980) 102 Cal.App.3d 

795, 802 [“where, as here, no legitimate interest or policy of the forum will be served by the 

application of its rule of law, no true conflict of laws exists, and the law of the place of the wrong 
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should be applied if the policy underlying the law of that jurisdiction will be served”].)  

Step Three: Balancing State Interests.  Assuming for purposes of argument that there were a true 
conflict, defendants would still prevail on this motion.  Plaintiffs’ primary opposition argument 
concerning step three is based on the assertion that the benzene products plaintiff J.D. Ford was 
exposed to were designed and manufactured in California.  As was noted above, this assertion is 
factually unsupported.  And even if it were factually supported, the Court would still find that the 
analysis of step three in the analogous Chen Court of Appeal decision would be dispositive in the case 
at bar.  (Chen, 42 Cal.App.5th at 503 [“[t]he reach of California's lawmaking power in respect of its 
products liability policy is appropriately confined to the protection of California residents and persons 
injured within California's borders”].) 

 

  
    

8. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC20-02203 
CASE NAME:  BURKE VS OLD REPUBLIC HOME PROTECTION COMPANY, INC 
 SPECIAL SET HEARING  RE:  COMPLIANCE HEARING  
FILED BY:  
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
The final compliance report is approved. 
 

 

  
    

9. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC20-02287 
CASE NAME:  THOMAS HAND VS.  SPREAD YOUR WINGS,LLC 
 *HEARING ON MOTION FOR DISCOVERY  COMPELLING DEF SPREAD YOUR WINGS AND SERRY 
ANDREW DUMBUYA RESPONSES TO DISCOVERY  
FILED BY: HAND, THOMAS 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Taken off calendar at ex parte hearing March 7, on report of settlement and in expectation of 
dismissal. 
 

 

  
    

10. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC21-00262 
CASE NAME:  PRATAP VS THE PAPE' GROUP, INC. 
 SPECIAL SET HEARING  RE:  COMPLIANCE HEARING  
FILED BY:  
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
At the suggestion of plaintiff’s counsel, this hearing is continued to May 2, 2023. 
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11. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC21-00901 
CASE NAME:  LANCE JORGENSEN VS.  BILL BRANDT FORD INC A CALIFORNIA CORPORATION 
 SPECIAL SET HEARING  RE:  OSC RE DISMISSAL/CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE  
FILED BY:  
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
See Line 12.  The OSC is discharged, and the case is set for case management conference on June 5 at 
8:30 a.m. 
 

 

  
    

12. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC21-00901 
CASE NAME:  LANCE JORGENSEN VS.  BILL BRANDT FORD INC A CALIFORNIA CORPORATION 
 *HEARING ON MOTION IN RE:  APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO FILE 2AC  
FILED BY:  
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Plaintiff’s motion for leave to file a second amended complaint is granted.  Plaintiff’s counsel should 
file and serve the second amended complaint, as a separately filed standalone document, by March 
23.  Defendant may respond in due course. 
 
This motion originally came for hearing on February 23.  At that point the Court had before it an 
unrebutted factual showing by defendant which, if true, demonstrated to the Court’s satisfaction that 
the proposed substitute plaintiff Norma Chayrez could not assert the claims at issue in the case, could 
not be an adequate class representative, and did not present a timely PAGA claim.  As the Court 
summarized in that tentative ruling: 
 

[Chayrez] in fact worked at defendant only two days, in February 2020. During that 
time she did not even complete her employment application and intake paperwork, 
let alone receiving training on job performance, or on punching in and out on the 
employee timekeeping system. Although the substance of the complaint in this case 
focuses on the application of commission and premium pay in calculating overtime 
rates, Chayrez in fact never received any commission or premium pay. She voluntarily 
quit her abortive employment with defendant for reported personal and family 
reasons. She did not send any notice letter to LWDA during the year after her 
employment. 

 
At hearing it came out that because of technical oversights by one or both sets of attorneys, plaintiff’s 
counsel had not timely seen the opposition papers and thus had not filed any response.  That lack of 
response was directly material to the Court’s then-tentative ruling.  With the Court’s permission, 
plaintiff’s counsel has now filed reply papers, including Chayrez’s declaration. 
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Chayrez’s declaration flatly contradicts the factual assertions made in defendant’s opposition based 
on its review of defendant’s personnel records.  She says that she was in fact employed for two 
weeks, not two days; that she did receive training; and that she suffered a variety of wage-and-hour 
violations (although she does not claim to have received any commission or premium pay).  If true, 
this may not provide a predicate for all of the asserted violations alleged in the original complaint, but 
it does appear to provide a predicate for asserting at least some wage-and-hour claims. 
 
The two sets of papers present directly contradictory factual assertions.  Did Chayrez work only two 
days, or did she work two weeks?  The Court agrees with plaintiff that resolution of that factual 
contradiction is not appropriate for the setting of a motion for leave to amend, and hence it grants 
the present motion on the basis of Chayrez’s factual statements.  There may remain some issues to 
be resolved sooner rather than later, such as whether the brevity and limited scope of Chayrez’s 
tenure might affect her suitability as a class representative, and whether there is a fatal untimeliness 
in her PAGA claims.  The Court agrees, however, that this motion is not the setting in which to litigate 
those points. 
 
For this reason, the Court disregards defendant’s proffered sur-reply and declaration.  Defendant asks 
the Court to strike the Chayrez declaration because evidence shouldn’t ordinarily be presented on a 
reply brief.  True in general; but then one wouldn’t ordinarily expect a plaintiff, moving to file an 
amended complaint, to have to file supporting evidence demonstrating that the complaint’s 
allegations are factually true.  That showing comes only in response to defendant’s own evidentiary 
presentation to the contrary, which showing is itself procedurally unorthodox.  Plaintiff’s present 
showing was virtually invited in the Court’s prior continuance. 
 
As for defendant’s own belated evidence:  Defendant, unlike plaintiff, was in a position to make its 
best evidentiary case with its initial briefing.  More to the point, defendant is essentially asking the 
Court to decide a contested and potentially dispositive issue of fact, based only on cursory factual 
submissions and in the inapt procedural context of a motion to amend.  The courts don’t deny 
motions to amend pleadings on the ground that the other side says the proposed complaint’s factual 
allegations are untrue.  That’s for presentation in a more appropriate procedural setting. 
 
Plaintiff’s objections to defendant’s declaration are overruled. 
 
Having said all that:  The Court is frankly distressed to see the competing and directly contradictory 
factual proofs presented by the two sides on a straightforward point of historical fact.  There really 
should be no factual ambiguity or uncertainty as to whether Chayrez worked two weeks (as her 
declaration says) or two days (as defendant’s employment records reportedly show), and whether 
she did or didn’t receive the relevant training.  In other words, unless there is some legitimate form of 
factual unclarity that the Court is not now envisioning, it appears lamentably likely that one side or 
the other may simply be lying. 
 
The Court directs counsel to meet and confer, face-to-face, concerning this set of facts.  Both sides 
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are to bring to that meeting any relevant documents – defendant’s personnel records for Chayrez, 
and any pay stubs or other documentation that Chayrez may have.  If the two sides remain in 
disagreement as to the true facts, that will have to be adjudicated in due course by appropriate 
procedures.  However, the Court warns both sides that if the Court becomes convinced that one side 
or the other is proceeding in bad faith or presenting a knowingly false set of factual assertions, 
sanctions can be expected. 
 

 

  
    

13. 9:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC21-02131 
CASE NAME:  WARGA VS. ADVANCED INTEGRATED PEST MANAGEMENT 
 *HEARING ON MOTION IN RE:  PRELIMINARY APPROVAL OF CLASS ACTION SETTLEMENT  
FILED BY: WARGA, VANNA 
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 

Plaintiff Vanna Warga moves for preliminary approval of her class action and PAGA 
settlement with defendant Advanced Integrated Pest Management, Inc.  The motion is granted. 

A. Background and Settlement Terms 

The original complaint was filed on October 5, 2021.  A PAGA claim was added by later 
amendment. 

The settlement would create a gross settlement fund of $390,000.  The class representative 
payment to the plaintiffs would be $7,500.  Attorney’s fees would be $130,000 (one-third of the 
settlement).  Litigation costs would not exceed $12,500.  The settlement administrator’s costs are 
estimated at $7,000.  PAGA penalties would be $40,000, resulting in a payment of $30,000 to the 
LWDA.  The net amount paid directly to the class members would be about $185,000.  The fund is 
non-reversionary.  There are an estimated 273 class members.  Based on the estimated class size, the 
average net payment for each class member is approximately $678.  The number of aggrieved 
employees for PAGA purposes is smaller, about 165, because the starting date of the relevant period 
is later. 

The entire settlement amount will be deposited with the settlement administrator within 14 
days after the effective date of the settlement. 

The proposed settlement would certify a class of all current and former non-exempt 
employed at Defendants’ California facilities between October 5, 2017, and January 1, 2022.  For 
PAGA purposes, the period covered by the settlement is October 5, 2020 through January 1, 2022. 

The class members will not be required to file a claim.  Class members may object or opt out 
of the settlement.  (Aggrieved employees cannot opt out of the PAGA portion of the settlement.)  
Funds would be apportioned to class members based on the number of workweeks worked during 
the class period.   

A list of class members will be provided to the settlement administrator within 14 days after 
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preliminary approval.  The administrator will use skip tracing as necessary.  Various prescribed follow-
up steps will be taken with respect to mail that is returned as undeliverable.  Settlement checks not 
cashed within 180 days will be cancelled, and the funds will be directed to the State Bar’s Justice Gap 
Fund as a cy pres payment. 

The settlement contains release language covering all claims and causes of action, alleged or 
which could have reasonably been alleged based on the allegations in the operative pleading, 
including a number of specified claims.  Under recent appellate authority, the limitation to those 
claims with the “same factual predicate” as those alleged in the complaint is critical.  (Amaro v. 
Anaheim Arena Mgmt., LLC (2021) 69 Cal.App.5th 521, 537 [“A court cannot release claims that are 
outside the scope of the allegations of the complaint.”]  “Put another way, a release of claims that 
goes beyond the scope of the allegations in the operative complaint’ is impermissible.”  (Id., quoting 
Marshall v. Northrop Grumman Corp. (C.D. Cal.2020) 469 F.Supp.3d 942, 949.) 

Formal discovery was undertaken, resulting in the production of substantial documents.  The 
matter settled after arms-length negotiations, which included a session with an experienced 
mediator. 

Counsel also has provided an analysis of the case, and how the settlement compares to the 
potential value of the case, after allowing for various risks and contingencies.  This included an 
estimate of class claims at a “maximum possible liability” of about $2.1 million.  Adjusting realistically 
for risks, however, a better estimate of possible recovery is about $422,000.  The moving papers 
include a detailed and reasonable breakdown of the latter estimate.  The settlement amount comes 
to about 92% of that figure. 

The potential liability needs to be adjusted for various evidence and risk-based contingencies, 
including problems of proof.  PAGA penalties are difficult to evaluate for a number of reasons: they 
derive from other violations, they include “stacking” of violations, the law may only allow application 
of the “initial violation” penalty amount, and the total amount may be reduced in the discretion of 
the court.  (See Labor Code § 2699(e)(2) [PAGA penalties may be reduced where “based on the facts 
and circumstances of the particular case, to do otherwise would result in an award that is unjust 
arbitrary and oppressive, or confiscatory.”]) 

Counsel attest that notice of the proposed settlement was transmitted to the LWDA 
concurrently with the filing of the motion.   

B. Legal Standards 

The primary determination to be made is whether the proposed settlement is “fair, 
reasonable, and adequate,” under Dunk v. Ford Motor Co. (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 1794, 1801, 
including “the strength of plaintiffs’ case, the risk, expense, complexity and likely duration of further 
litigation, the risk of maintaining class action status through trial, the amount offered in settlement, 
the extent of discovery completed and the state of the proceedings, the experience and views of 
counsel, the presence of a governmental participant, and the reaction … to the proposed settlement.”  
(See also Amaro, 69 Cal.App.5th 521.) 
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Because this matter also proposes to settle PAGA claims, the Court also must consider the 

criteria that apply under that statute.  Recently, the Court of Appeal’s decision in Moniz v. Adecco 

USA, Inc.  (2021) 72 Cal.App.5th 56, provided guidance on this issue.  In Moniz, the court found that 

the “fair, reasonable, and adequate” standard applicable to class actions applies to PAGA settlements.  

(Id., at 64.)  The Court also held that the trial court must assess “the fairness of the settlement’s 

allocation of civil penalties between the affected aggrieved employees[.]”  (Id., at 64-65.) 

California law provides some general guidance concerning judicial approval of any settlement.  
First, public policy generally favors settlement.  (Neary v. Regents of University of California (1992) 3 
Cal.4th 273.)  Nonetheless, the court should not approve an agreement contrary to law or public 
policy.  (Bechtel Corp.  v. Superior Court (1973) 33 Cal.App.3d 405, 412; Timney v. Lin (2003) 106 
Cal.App.4th 1121, 1127.)  Moreover, “[t]he court cannot surrender its duty to see that the judgment 
to be entered is a just one, nor is the court to act as a mere puppet in the matter.”  (California State 
Auto. Assn. Inter-Ins. Bureau v. Superior Court (1990) 50 Cal.3d 658, 664.)  As a result, courts have 
specifically noted that Neary does not always apply, because “[w]here the rights of the public are 
implicated, the additional safeguard of judicial review, though more cumbersome to the settlement 
process, serves a salutatory purpose.”  (Consumer Advocacy Group, Inc.  v. Kintetsu Enterprises of 
America (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 48, 63.) 

C. Attorney Fees 

Plaintiff seeks one-third of the total settlement amount as fees, relying on the “common 

fund” theory.  Even a proper common fund-based fee award, however, should be reviewed through a 

lodestar cross-check.  In Lafitte v. Robert Half International (2016) 1 Cal.5th 480, 503, the Supreme 

Court endorsed the use of a lodestar cross-check as a way to determine whether the percentage 

allocated is reasonable.  It stated:  “If the multiplier calculated by means of a lodestar cross-check is 

extraordinarily high or low, the trial court should consider whether the percentage used should be 

adjusted so as to bring the imputed multiplier within a justifiable range, but the court is not 

necessarily required to make such an adjustment.”  (Id., at 505.)  Following typical practice, however, 

the fee award will not be considered at this time, but only as part of final approval.   

Similarly, litigation costs and the requested representative payment of $7,500 for the plaintiff 

will be reviewed at time of final approval.  Criteria for evaluation of representative payment requests 

are discussed in Clark v. American Residential Services LLC (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 785, 804-07. 

D.  Discussion and Conclusion 

Subject to the submission of the declaration in question, the Court finds that the settlement is 

sufficiently fair, reasonable, and adequate to justify preliminary approval.   

Counsel will be directed to prepare an order reflecting this tentative ruling, the other findings 

in the previously submitted proposed order, and to obtain a hearing date for the motion for final 

approval from the Department clerk.  Other dates in the scheduled notice process should track as 

appropriate to the hearing date.  The ultimate judgment must provide for a compliance hearing after 
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the settlement has been completely implemented.  Plaintiffs’ counsel are to submit a compliance 

statement one week before the compliance hearing date.  Five percent of the attorney’s fees are to 

be withheld by the claims administrator pending satisfactory compliance as found by the Court. 
 

  
    

14. 10:00 AM CASE NUMBER:  MSC20-02287 
CASE NAME:  THOMAS HAND VS.  SPREAD YOUR WINGS,LLC 
 ISSUE CONFERENCE    
FILED BY:  
*TENTATIVE RULING:* 
 
Continued to March 30, on report of settlement and in contemplation of intervening dismissal.  April 
10 trial date will not go forward in any event. 
 

 

  

 


